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M. D’Attanasio

The Nativity Chapel in the Church of Santa Maria dei
Martiri in Maranola: Court Patronage in Southern
Latium

In Maranola, a small village in Southern Latium in the archdiocese of Gaeta, there is the
Church of Santa Maria dei Martiri'; the church is famous in the area for its so called Nativity
Chapel (Il 126), very important for the strong worship of the villagers and its aesthetic charm.

Despite the fact that the sacellum was realized in modern age, it is very difficult to obtain
results that are certain, because there is a big lack of documentation. The restoration works,
now in progress, give new important information every day, sometimes modifying the data
previously acquired?.

The oldest document that mentions the Nativity Chapel is kept in the diocesan historical
archive of Gaeta. It is dated June 27, 1647. It reports the quarrel between the archpriest Giovan-
ni Battista Siffredi and don Francesco de Meo, a primicerius of Fondi. The event was testified
by Berardina della Rocca who was praying in front of the altar in the Nativity Chapel®. Other
mentions are present in the inventory (apprezzo) of the fiefs of the Duchy of Traetto (now called
Minturno) drawn up in 1690 [20, u.p.] and in the pastoral visits lead by the Bishops of Gaeta
in the 17" century.

The most relevant pastoral visits are those of Bishop Carlo Pignatelli made in 1723 and
1728, during which he ordered to clean, repaint, and better arrange the statues of the Nativity
scene, as well as to paint the vault and to restore the altar®. Later, in September 1775, Bishop
Carlo Pergamo ordered to repaint the whole chapel especially the altar steps®.

! Tt is possible to find the first mention about the church in the inventory of the inheritance of the count of

Fondi Onorato II, dated 1491: “Una polisa sub data XII martii, XII indictionis, 1480, per la quale Antonello
Aczarito, de Molfecta, confexa havere receputo da Nuczo Andrano, de Lecza, per spendere in Santa Maria de
li Martori onze quactro” [32, p.41]. A few years later, in 1493, the bishop of Gaeta Francesco Patrizi approved
the construction of a pilgrim hospital and consecrated in the church of Santa Maria in Maranola three altars
dedicated to the Holy Virgin, Saint Sebastian and Saint Blaise [35, p. 83].

2 Unluckily the municipal notarial archives of Gaeta and Maranola are lost. They might have preserved
documentations about agreement stipulations and patronage contracts. In 1911, Pasquale Antignano made a
report about the Charity Congregation of Maranola whose headquarter was in the Church of Santa Maria dei
Martiri. About the church archive he says that it was abandoned and the seals of the 15" century were totally
ruined by dust, moths and mice [3, p.5].

3 The document is transcribed in [20]. For this study I could verify the transcription of the useful passage
only on the photographic reproduction made by Mastrogiovanni.

4 Archivio storico diocesano di Gaeta (from now on ASDG), C.1.4.2, Visite pastorali, 1722-1772, visita
mons. Pignatelli, 1722-1723, u. f.; ASDG, C. 1.4.2; Visite pastorali, 1722-1772, visita pastorale mons. Pignatelli,
1728-1729, f. 109r.

> ASDG, C.1.4.2, Visite pastorali, 1773-1798, visita pastorale mons. Pergamo, 1775, u. f.
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The sacellum has a rectangular plan: at about half of its height, it is divided horizontally by a
barrel vault which simulates a cave; the two floors are connected by the stairs on the left.

On both sides of the cave, there are two niches with statues inside. The front of the cave,
including the stairs on the left and the niches (see Ill. 126), was added to the original cave on
an unidentifiable date.

Inside the cave, in the center, there is a low wall and an altar leaned to it.

In the upper part of the sacellum, near the back wall, there is a crenellated wall with two
towers at both sides.

Also, this scenic architectural backdrop was probably added at the same time as the front of
the chapel was extended.

During the restorations of 2015, the latest painting phase was removed and a decoration
came up representing a desert on the sidewall and a decorative pattern similar to damask fabric
with large flowers traced by thick red ochre brushstrokes on a yellow base coat.

On the vault, there are the four Evangelists; they rest on clouds, and each one is depicted in
half-body with own symbols (Ill. 127)8.

Each Evangelist holds a scroll in his hands with the inscribed biblical verses related to the
prophecy of the Nativity.

In 2015, the soil on the right of the cave was partially removed, and this made possible an
extraordinary discovery: there was a fresco covered by pots and mortar. It represents the Mas-
sacre of the Innocents (I1l. 128).

This fresco was covered when the extension of the front of the cave was added. Therefore, it
is possible to speculate that the desert landscape in the upper part of the wall was painted after
this architectural change, when the Massacre of the Innocents was covered and the background
for the statue in the upper part of the vault had to be created.

Another interesting fresco made by the painter of the Evangelist and the Massacre of the
Innocents is located on the left wall at the entrance of the cave. The artist depicted St. Bernard
of Clairvaux who holds the devil in chains and a young unrecognized female saint (Ill. 129).

The vault of the cave is decorated with little heads of cherubs.

The back wall presented three layers of painting. The most recent one, removed during the
conservation work in 2019, represented the town of Bethlehem. Under this layer, there is a frag-
ment of the Nativity scene: it is possible to recognize the head and the bent legs of St. Joseph,
the legs of the Virgin and the crib’.

The oldest layer is recognizable only for some little fragments that let us speculate that there
was the same damask fabric decoration present on the upper part of the chapel.

The prominent role in this chapel decoration belongs to the Nativity scene that counts twen-
ty-seven terracotta statues: sixteen figures and eleven animals.

In the two niches in the front of the cave, there are Prophet Malachi and King David. On the
altar inside the cave, there are the main characters: the Holy Virgin, St. Joseph (Ill. 130, 131),
Baby Jesus, the Ox and the Donkey. Baby Jesus for sure was replaced; in fact, he is too far from

6 'The layer of painting removed, datable to the end of the 19 century — beginning of the 20" century, rep-

resented four Prophets: Isaiah, Ezekiel, Jeremiah, Elijah, and the Delphic Sibyl.
7 This pictorial phase could be dated at the beginning of the 16™ century.
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the others statues in terms of style. He seems to look similar to the angel which hangs on the
upper vault.

The angel is the annunciating the birth of Christ to two shepherds: one standing with a
tortano — typical food of the Neapolitan cuisine — , the other one sitting with a zampogna — a
kind of Italian double chantered pipes; all around them, there are sheep, rams, goats, and dogs.

On the left side of the vault, there are the three Magi: Melchior, Caspar, and Balthazar.

Two figures, the Lady with a Child and a shepherd with ricotta, have been severely altered.
The Lady, now dressed as a farmer with cheese in her head, before wore a more elegant dress,
as some fragments of the original painted layers show (Ill. 132). In addition, the shepherd has
been totally reshaped, as we can speculate observing the back of the statues.

The two soldiers have been altered, too. In fact, the heads are way too small for their bodies.
Lastly, a small statue of a man, that is very different from the other ones, could be easily iden-
tified as an addition.

To this moment, only four statues have been restored, the Holy Virgin, St. Joseph, the Ox
and the Donkey, therefore, I will try to base my stylistic analysis exclusively on them, because
they are the only ones that reacquired their original form.

The statues of the Virgin and St. Joseph were covered with two pictorial layers on the orig-
inal surface, which has mostly been recovered.

The pink tunic and the blue cloak of the Virgin hid more precious dresses (Ill. 130).The
tunic was silver, as little fragments shown, while the cape was gold. The veil was beige and dec-
orated with a vegetable pattern in silver leaf. A technique similar to the decoration in estofado
de oro, typical of Spain and then oftenly used in Naples during the rule of Ferrante of Aragon
(15, p.80]°.

The Holy Virgin wears precious jewels: rings on her fingers and a crow in her head.

To my knowledge, the crowned Virgin is not so common in Nativity scene. A parallel could
be found only with the Virgin in the famous Nativity Scene made by Peter and John Alemanno
in the Church of San Giovanni a Carbonara in Naples and now preserved in the Museum of
the Certosa di San Martino. Currently, the statue has no crown any more, but the contract
stipulated in June 30, 1478 says: “figuram Virginis Marie cum corona in capite” [7, p. 56]%; maybe
the crown was a singular piece that has been lost.

St. Joseph adores the Baby Jesus (Ill. 131). His cape is gold, while the tunic is green with gold
collar and cuff.

Stylistically all the statues have a solid volume made with wide round planes, the dresses
have soft creases. The modeler paid a lot of attention to physiognomic characterization and to
naturalistic details: see as example the veins on the hand of St Joseph or the grotesque expres-
sion on the face of the piper.

To my knowledge, it is impossible to find other statues that were made by the artist who
created the Nativity scene of Maranola. The most important stylistic affinities could be found
in the Neapolitan sculpture made between the 15" and 16%™centuries [5; 1; 2; 12; 14], in par-

8 Artists capable of realizing gildings and polychromies on gold have been documented in Naples on the end

of the 15" century already. It allows to suppose that there was a deep-rooted local tradition that it has no need
of contribution from French or Iberian peninsula [8, p.151].
®  The notorial act is preserved in the library of the Museo Filangieri in Naples: BMF, 11 H 7339, c.47.



MckyccTeo PeHeccanca 589

ticular, in the works by Pietro Belverte, the Lombard sculptor who lived in Naples [23; 11,
pp.71-81; 18; 13, pp. 65-67].

Some similarities can be found with the wood sculptures of the Virgin and St. Joseph®,
which make part of the Nativity scene in the Carafa chapel in St. Dominic, Naples, made be-
tween 1507 and 1508 [18, pp.95-96; 19, p.373].

Another comparison is possible between the Holy Virgin and the lost wooden statue from
the Church of San Pietro in Teggiano near Salerno!!. The two statues are similar in the shape
of their chubby faces, and in the flowing folds of their dresses.

The stylistic comparisons let us speculate that the Nativity scene in Maranola was made at
the beginning of the 16 century.

Despite the claims of some critics who say that the Nativity scene is related to that in Apulia,
because at the beginning of the 1500s in Naples there was no Nativity scene organized in two
levels [33, p.55; 16, pp. 26, 88], I do not agree with that.

First of all, a lot of Nativity scenes made in Naples between the Quattrocento and the 1500s
are lost or totally decontextualized!?; and secondly, it is possible to find another Nativity scene
in two levels in the northern Latium, former Abruzzi, that is dated to the very same years of
that in Maranola!®.

10
11

According to Letizia Gaeta this figure could be identified as a Magus [13, p.67].

The style of this statue is not so far from the manner of Giovanni da Nola and Pietro Belverte between
1508 and 1512 [13, pp. 64-65, fig. 33].

12 In these years, following a chronological and attributive order, in Naples and surroundings, the follow-
ing Nativity scenes were made: (i) the one in SantAgostino della Zecca sculpted in 1458 by Martino Simone
from Zara, (ii) the groups attributable to the association of the brothers Alemanno and the master Francesco
Felice — that is the Nativity scene in San Giovanni a Carbonara dated 1478 and (iii) the ones of Santa Ma-
ria la Nova, the Annunziata and Sant’Eligio. To Pietro Belverte, it is possible to attribute: (i) the sculpture of
Giordano Caetani in the Museo diocesano of Capua that probably was part of a Nativity scene made for one of
the chapel of the Cathedral of Capua; (ii) the Nativity scene dated 1507 and commissioned by Ettore Carafa for
his sacellum in San Domenico Maggiore in Naples and, (iii) for attribution, the Nativiy scene from Santa Maria
della Consolazione in Pozzuoli in which only the Holy Virgin and Saint Joseph are preserved. An emulator of
Pietro Belverte was Cristiano Moccia, to him is possible to attribute the Nativity scene documented in 1518 in
Santa Maria del Pozzo in Somma Vesuviana in which only the statue of Saint Joseph is preserved. Giovanni da
Nola made in 1519 the Nativity scene for the Church of Santa Maria del Parto in Mergellina, on commission
by Jacopo Sannazzaro, and maybe at about 1530 that for San Giuseppe Maggiore. Still to Giovanni da Nola it is
possible to attribute a dismembered Nativity scene in which remained only the Holy Virgin — preserved in the
Museum of Capodimonte — from the De Cicco collection and the mannequin of a shepherd (or Saint Joseph)
passed on the Florentine antique market. Lastly, to Domenico Napoletano (called Domenico Impicciati) it is
possible to attribute the terracotta of the Virgin Mary adoring baby Jesus — maybe related to the statue of Saint
Joseph in San Gregorio Armeno — and the Nativity scene, always in terracotta and unfortunately lost, made in
1532 for Matteo Mastrogiudice [21, p.6; 9, u. p.; 14, pp. 81, 86, 95; 12, pp.33-37, 42-46; 18, p.99; 22].

13 T am talking about the Nativity scene already in San Francesco in LAquila (now lost) made by Giacomo da
Montereale and most likely finished before 1501. We do not own any other document that allows us to recon-
struct for sure how this Nativity scene was, but in the contract stipulated in 1541 by Giacomo and Raffaele da
Montereale for a Nativity scene in the oratory of SantAntonio in Calvi in Umbria it is explicitly established that
it has to be similar to the Nativity scenes in the churches of San Francesco in Leonessa and San Francesco in
LAquila and beautiful as that in San Francesco in Rieti. The Nativity scene in Calvi has the Magi procession, so
it is possible to argue that the same was present in IAquila, a town in periphery of the Kingdom of Naples [6,
pp-78-79].
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Moreover, I think that it is more probable that Naples, the capital of the kingdom, was the
only city capable to impose its artistic supremacy to the provinces. Churches and chapels in
Naples were subjected to renovations, so the oldest Nativity scenes must have been lost, and
as a consequence, nowadays, we can find the oldest ones only in the churches of the periphery.

Hence, the Nativity scene of Maranola could be the oldest witness in Campania (Formia
was part of the Terra di Lavoro) with a Nativity scene in two levels!?.

Focusing on the painted decoration, it is possible to see an artist whose style is characterized
by using more of drawing than color. The contours are made with a dark line, which realizes the
details; for example, the wrinkles on the face of St. Luke (Ill. 133). The figures are slim and wear
dresses full of creases, the features are tiny and thin. The chromatic range is narrow: the blue of
the sky and different shades of red, orange and yellow for the figures; white is only used to make
the effect of the light on volumes.

The artist is close to Cristoforo Scacco, a painter who worked in southern Latium and Cam-
pania [28; 30, p.97].

It is possible to draw a comparison between the face of the female saint in Maranola and that
of the Holy Virgin in the so-called Cross polyptych made in 1500 for the church of St Anne in
Sessa Aurunca [34].

Focusing on the search of the patronage of both kinds of decoration of the chapel, painting
and sculpture, it is important to retrace the history of Maranola at the end of the 15" — begin-
ning of the 16%centuries.

At that time, the village was part of the Countship of Fondi and a fief of the Caetani family.
More precisely, in 1491, when the count of Fondi Onorato II Caetani died, the fief of Maranola
was inherited by his young wife Caterina Pignatelli, who maintained the lordship till her death
in 1513, despite that the Colonna family conquered the whole Countship of Fondi few years
after the death of Onorato II"°.

So, it is very much likely that the artistic patronage is connected to her, as some facts seem
to demonstrate.

First of all, the pastoral visits never mention the giuspatronato — the right of patronage —
of the chapel, so it is possible to interpret this silence as leading back to the local feudal lord (or
lady in this case)?®.

4 Another bond between the Nativity scene in Maranola and those in Naples is the presence of the figure of

the shepherd with tortano, documented in the Nativity scene commissioned by Ettore Carafa [10, pp. 585-589]
and realized by Giovanni da Nola, or most likely his workshop, for the church of Santa Maria del Parto in
Mergellina.

15 In the royal approval to the testamentary disposition of the count Onorato II dated January 15, 1489 it
is specified: “[...] Item dictus dominus comes testator recognoscens obsequiosa et grata servitia [...] sibi per
excellentem eius coniugem Catherinam Pignatellam de Neapoli, comitissam Fundorum, preestita et impensa,
dictee dominz Chaterinz legavit et dari voluit et mandavit castrum ipsius testatoris appellatum Maranula [...]
pro residentia et habitatione ipsius comitissae, quoad plenum dominium, usumfructum et proprietatem sua
vita durante, dum vitam vidualem servaverit et ad secunda vota non transierit [...]” [31, p.446, document
no. 264, 1 August 1490]. The concession made by king Frederik of Naples towards Prospero Colonna of the fief
of the Duchy of Traetto and the Countship of Fondi [31, p.468, document no. 285, 20 May 1497], among them
the feud of Maranola, does not rule out the possibility that Caterina Pignatelli, by rule of a bequest approved by
the king, continued to rule Maranola until her death. On the life of Caterina Pignatelli see [4, pp. 156-161].

16 T am grateful to Giovanni Pesiri for sharing with me this hypothesis.
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Another unusual detail is the crown on the head of the Virgin in the Nativity scene. Maybe
this is a crypto-portrait of the noble countess Pignatelli; in fact, in other Nativity scenes made
in Naples in these years, there were patrons portrayed as figures of the Nativity'”.

The Caetani family, to which Caterina was related, used to patronize Nativity scenes for
their chapels; it is possible to mention the Nativity scene commissioned by Giordano Caetani
[11, p.81]'8, brother of Onorato II and the Bishop of Capua, for the Cathedral, and that ordered
by Onorato for the Church of St. Dominic in Fondi".

Caterina Pignatelli, commissioning a sculpted Nativity scene as many noble Neapolitans
families had done, wanted to imitate her husband, who hired the best artists present in Southern
Latium and Naples?.

It is not a chance that both Cristoforo Scacco and Pietro Belverte were active for Onorato
121

With this patronage, Caterina wanted to underline her power over the feud of Maranola.
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Title. The Nativity Chapel in the Church of Santa Maria dei Martiri in Maranola. Court Patronage in South-
ern Latium

Author. D’Attanasio, Marco — Ph.D. Superintendence of Archeology, Fine Arts and Landscape for the
provinces of Frosinone and Latina, Via Pompeo Magno 2, 00192 Rome (RM) Italy. marco.dattanasio@gmail.
com ORCID: 0000-0003-1702-8328

Abstract. In Maranola there is the Church of Santa Maria dei Martiri, famous for the Nativity Chapel. De-
spite the fact that the sacellum was realized in modern age, it is very difficult to obtain sure information, because
of the lack of documentation. The sacellum has a rectangular plan, at about half of its height it is divided hori-
zontally by a barrel vault that simulates a cave; the two floors are connected by stairs on the left. In the cross vault
of the upper level there are painted the four Evangelists with their symbols. In the lower level of the chapel are
recognizable two pictorial layers in which the fragmentary Nativity is visible. It is possible to date these paint-
ings to the beginning of the 16" century because they are stylistically close to the manner of Cristoforo Scacco,
a painter well known in Southern Latium at that time. The decoration of the chapel is completed by a Nativity
scene with twenty-seven terracotta sculptures. In the lower floor of the chapel there are: Baby Jesus, The Holy
Virgin, St. Joseph, the ox and the donkey and two Prophets: king David and Malachi. In the upper floor there are
the Three Magi, the Annunciating Angel, two shepherds and many animals. The creche is stylistically close to
the Neapolitan sculpture of the end of the 15 — beginning of the 16 century. Even if there are no documents,
it seems possible to connect the patronage of the Nativity Chapel to Caterina Pignatelli, the wife of the count of
Fondi Onorato II Caetani. With this patronage, she wanted to underline her power over the feud of Maranola.

Keywords: Latium, Maranola, Nativity scene, painting, terracotta, sculpture, Cristoforo Scacco, Caterina
Pignatelli, Fondi, Neapolitan Kingdom

Hassanmne crarem. Kanenna Poxpectsa nepksu Canta Mapus gen Maptupu B Mapanone. ITpugsopubiit
narpoHax B IOxxnoM Jlanun

Caeenns 06 aBrope. Mapko 1’ Arranasno — Ph. D. YpasieHns apxeonornu, n306pasutenbHOrO UCKyC-
crBa u manfmadra B npoBuHIusax Pposunone u Jlatnxa. Bua ITommneo MarHo 2, 00192 Pum, Vitanus. marco.
dattanasio@gmail.com ORCID: 0000-0003-1702-8328

Annoramus. Ilepkosb Canta Mapusa gem Maprtunm B MapaHose npuMmedaTeNbHa BXOJALIEH B ee aH-
cam671p Kanenoit PoxxpectBa XprcroBa. HecMoTps Ha TO, 4TO IpOoCTpaHCTBO 61710 BO3BeeHO B HoBoe Bpe-
Msl, COXPAaHM/IOCh MAJIO CBeIeHUIT OTHOCUTENILHO ero rnocTpoiiku. Kamesa, mpAMoyronpHas B IUIaHe, Ha IO-
JIOBMHE BBICOTHI PasfieneHa 604K006pasHBIM CBOLOM, MMUTUPYIOIUM IIeIepy; APYChl COeAMHEHbI IeCTHUIIEH
ceBa. KpecToBblil CBOJ BEpXHEro spyca yKpallleH )KUBOIIICDIO € M1300paXKeHNeM YeThIpeX eBaHIe/IIICTOB U X
cuMBOoOB. Ha HinkHeM Apyce MOXHO pasaNiINTb JBa JXUBOIVCHBIX C/I0A C I/I306pa)KeHI/IeM CII€HbI PO)KI[eCTBa.
Pocrmcn maruposaHbl HadanmoM X VI B. Ha 0CHOBe MX CTMIMCTUYECKOTO CXOZICTBA ¢ XMBomuchio Kpucrodopo
CKaKKoO, XyJ0)KHIKA, XOPOIIO u3BecTHOro B I0xxHOM Jlanuy B 3TOT mepuo. JleKxopaips Kamne/nibl JOIOTHEeHa
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POX[IECTBEHCKMM BEPTENOM C JBAJLIATbI0 CEMbI0 TePPAaKOTOBBIMU CKYIBITYpaMu. B «ieriepe» Ha HIDKHEM
spyce PacIoNoXXeHsl CKynbITypbl Miazienia, Boromarepu 1 Csitoro Mocuda, Gurypst Bona u ocra, a Tak-
JXe IByX IpopokoB — uaps Hasuga n Manaxuu. Ha BepxHem sipyce HaXofsATCs CKynbOTYypbl TpEX Bonxsos,
Anrena-61aroBeCcTHIKA, IBYX MACTYXOB 1 MHOXX€CTBA XMBOTHBIX. SIC/IM CTHIMCTHYECKN O/IM3KY K HeaIonm-
TaHCKOI1 CKy/nbIType KoHlja XV — Hayana XVI 8B. HecMoTps Ha 0OTCYTCTBME TOATBEPKAAIOLINX JOKYMEHTOB,
IIPEeJICTAB/IAETC BO3MOXKHBIM CBA3aTh CTPOUTENbCTBO Kamebl PoxkaecTsa ¢ mokposuTenbctsoM Karepunel
InubsaTemny, xensl rpada oupu Onoparo II Kastanu, KoTopas XoTe/Ia IIOLYEPKHYTb CBOIO BIIACTb Haf de-
omamMy MapaHOJIbI.

KmioueBbre cmoBa: Jlanuit, MapaHona, poXXIeCTBEHCKMIT BepTell, >KUBOINCh, TEPPAKOTA, CKY/IbITYypa,
Kpucrodopo Caxko, Karepuna [Inubsremm, @onpn, Heamonmiranckoe KOPOIeBCTBO
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TIL. 126. The Nativity Chapel, Santa Maria dei Martiri,
Maranola. Photo by M. D’Attanasio

11l 127. The four Evangelists. Santa Maria dei Martiri,
Maranola. Photo by M. D’Attanasio

11l. 128. The massacre of Innocents. Santa Maria dei
Martiri, Maranola. Photo by M. D’Attanasio

TIL. 129. Saint Bernard of Clairvaux and a Saint. Santa
Maria dei Martiri, Maranola. Photo by M. D’Attanasio
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I1L. 130. The Holy Virgin. Santa Maria dei I1l. 131. Saint Joseph. Santa Maria dei Martiri,
Martiri, Maranola. Photo by M. D’Attanasio Maranola. Photo by M. D’Attanasio

TIl. 132. Lady with a baby. Santa Maria dei I1. 133. Saint Luke Evangelist. Santa Maria dei
Martiri, Maranola. Photo by M. D’Attanasio Martiri, Maranola. Photo by M. D’Attanasio



